THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2016-001194

---

Allenwood Owners  
Association, Inc., Stephen  
Seefeld, John Kovitch, Yvette  
Smith, Everett Butler, and  
Amanda Johansson, Plaintiffs,

Appellant,

Of Whom Allenwood Owners  
Association, Inc. is Appellant,

v.

Mike Prince, Stacy Keller, Jeff  
Miller, Debra Reed, Fran  
Stevens, Meredith Florencio,  
and Jacques Talbot,

Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Bonum S. Wilson III  
Brandon T. Reeser  
Wilson & Heyward, LLC  
P.O. Box 13177  
Charleston, SC 29412  
Telephone (843)762-4567

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR FAILING TO COMPLY WITH RULINGS NOT CONTAINED IN A FINAL ORDER YET CITED AS A BASIS FOR DISMISSAL?
2. DID THE LOWER COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DISMISSED APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE WHEN IT FAILED TO FIND THAT APPELLANT DISOBEYED THE COURT'S PRIOR ORDER INTENTIONALLY OR WILFULLY, FAILED TO FIND A HISTORY OF DELAY ON THE PART OF APPELLANT, FAILED TO CRAFT ITS SANCTION IN A MANNER APPROPRIATE FOR THE ACTIONS COMPLAINED OF, AND FAILED TO CONSIDER ANY AND ALL ALTERNATIVES FOR SANCTIONS OTHER THAN DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE?
3. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN ORDERING THE DISMISSAL OF APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION WITH PREJUDICE WHEN SUCH A DISMISSAL DOES NOT PUT AND END TO THE CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER ESTABLISHED SOUTH CAROLINA LAW?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from the lower court's filed Order of February 11, 2016 in which the court dismissed Appellant's cause of action on the basis that its representative, Mr. Steven Seefeld, had "failed to comply with the rules and Orders of the Court . . . ." (R. p. 12). The underlying case arises from a dispute over the validity of elections and the proper controlling leadership of the Appellant, the Allenwood Owners Association, Inc. (hereinafter "Association" or "Appellant"). Mr. Steven Seefeld initiated the current action, on the Association's behalf, seeking a declaratory judgment as to the propriety of actions taken by the Association in February and March of 2014 and alleging claims for conversion, injunctive relief, and conspiracy, among others. Respondents asserted counterclaims for declaratory relief as to the meetings in question in addition to seeking a court supervised meeting and election for the Association and a declaration that their elections to Association's Board of Directors were proper pursuant to a Special Meeting held on December 9, 2014.

On February 27, 2015, the parties attempted to mediate this case in Beaufort County with attorney Karl Folkens. (R. p. 9). The parties reached an impasse with Mr. Seefeld attending by phone for the Association and all insurance company representatives also attending remotely. (*Id.*; R. pp. 216-17). The lower court held a hearing on several discovery motions on August 4, 2015. At the hearing, a majority of the outstanding Motions were resolved by agreement of the Parties, and as such, the lower court limited its order to Respondents' Motion to Compel filed on July 9, 2015. (R. pp. 1-6). The Order thereafter compelled Answers to certain Interrogatories and the production of documents, if available, within thirty (30) days of the Order. (R. p. 6). Although the parties had mediated the matter in February of 2015, the lower court ordered an additional mediation, stating that it "hereby orders the parties in this case to participate in a

mediation as soon as practicable, with one of the following individuals serving as mediator: Colden Battey, Ned Tupper, or Mitch Griffith.” (Id.)

The parties again mediated the case on November 11, 2015 with attorney Ned Tupper in Beaufort, South Carolina, and Mr. Seefeld again did not physically attend. (R. p. 10). The parties and representatives, many attending by phone including Mr. Seefeld on behalf of the Association, worked with Mr. Tupper to settle the matter for over five (5) hours. (Id.; R. p. 194).

On November 23, 2015, Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute against the Association based on the failure of Mr. Seefeld to attend either mediation physically. (R. pp. 209-11). On the same date, Respondents’ filed a Motion to Compel the Deposition of the Association as an alternative consideration should the lower court not grant their Motion to Dismiss. (R. p. 210). The lower court did not rule on Respondents’ November 23, 2015 Motion to Compel. (See R. pp. 7-13).

The lower court granted Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute by Order filed February 11, 2016. The Association filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP on February 18, 2016. The lower court denied the Motion to Alter or Amend by Order filed April 26, 2016, and this appeal timely followed.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Whether an action should be dismissed for failure to prosecute is left to the discretion of the trial court judge, and his decision will not be disturbed, except upon a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. Small v. Mungo, 254 S.C. 438, 442, 175 S.E.2d 802, 804 (1970). “An abuse of discretion occurs either when a court is controlled by some error of law, or where the order is based upon findings of fact lacking evidentiary support.” Patel v. Patel, 359 S.C. 515, 529, 599 S.E.2d 114, 121 (2004).

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT IN ITS FINAL ORDER A REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ASSOCIATION WAS REQUIRED TO ATTEND THE SECOND MEDIATION ON NOVEMBER 11, 2015 IN PERSON.**

In its February 11, 2016 Order, the lower court concluded that the Association violated its October 13, 2015 Order because Mr. Seefeld did not physically attend the court-ordered mediation in November. In doing so, the court committed an error of law that should be reversed by this Court.

It is well established that “a written order constitutes a final order and final judgment of the lower court.” Woodson v. DLI Properties, LLC, 406 S.C. 517, 528, 753 S.E.2d 428, 433-34 (2014) (citing Ford v. State Ethics Comm’n, 344 S.C. 642, 645-46, 545 S.E.2d 821, 823 (2001) (stating “the written order is the trial judge’s final order and as such constitutes the final judgment of the court.”)). In light of this standard, any alleged bench ruling by the circuit court is irrelevant once a final written order is signed and issued. See Woodson, 406 S.C. at 528, 753 S.E.2d at 433. “Until written and entered, the trial judge retains discretion to change his mind and amend his oral ruling accordingly.” Ford, 344 S.C. at 646, 545 S.E.2d at 823 (citation omitted). “The final written order contains the binding instructions which are to be followed by the parties.” Id.

The lower court held that the Association violated its October 13, 2015 Order by failing to physically attend the mediation. (R. p. 12). However, the plain reading of the lower court’s order makes no mention of physical attendance on the part of any party to the litigation:

In addition to the foregoing, I hereby Order the parties in this case to participate in a mediation as soon as practicable, with one of the following individuals serving as mediator: Colden Battey, Ned Tupper or Mitch Griffith.

(R. p. 6).

In its February 11, 2016 Order, the lower court explains that it stated that Mr. Seefeld needed to attend the mediation physically. (R. p. 9). However, at no time did the Court distinguish whether Mr. Seefeld was to attend the mediation as a representative of the Appellant or in his individual capacity as he had been named as an individual Plaintiff in this matter. Further, as stated above, a bench ruling that is subsumed by a subsequently issued and entered final order is irrelevant, as the written order controls the conduct of the parties at the time of issuance under established South Carolina law. Therefore, basing a dismissal of the Association's claims on the failure of Mr. Seefeld to physically attend the mediation is improper, as the lower court failed to include physical attendance by the Association or any party in its October 13, 2015 Order.

The lower court's February 11, 2016 Order also asserts that the Association, through Mr. Seefeld, violated Rule 6, SCRADR, by not attending the November 11, 2015 mediation in person. (R. p. 12). However, there is no dispute that the parties were thoroughly able to mediation this matter and did so pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Alternative Dispute Resolution in February of 2015 with Mr. Seefeld and representatives for the various insurance carriers attending remotely. Indeed, the mediator filed, as required by Rule 7(f), SCRADR, proof of mediation with the Beaufort County Clerk of Court declaring that the parties so participated and were at an impasse. (See R. p. 217). At no time did respondents object to mediating the matter and, in fact, actively participated in the process. As such, the Association fully complied with all SCRADR responsibilities.

Additionally, at the November 11, 2015 mediation, the Association was evidently informed that insurance adjusters for the various Respondents would also be attending the

mediation by phone though their physical presence was also required by the terms of Rule 6(b)(4), SCRADR. (R. p. 194). Pursuant to Rule 6(b), SCRADR, the parties have the option to agree to telephonic participation in any mediation proceedings. As the Respondents had informed the Association that no adjuster would be present, telephonic attendance was accepted by the parties and the mediator. Indeed, the basis of the lower court's February 11, 2016 Order is only that Mr. Seefeld failed to attend the mediation physically, not that he was not available or that he was unresponsive such that mediation would not be productive. The lower court was made fully aware that other required parties attended telephonically, and it made no finding of fact that an agreement for telephonic attendance was improper or agreed to, nor did counsel for Respondents ever contend that such an arrangement had not been reached. (See R. pp. 188-206; R. pp. 7-13). In fact, counsel for Respondents admitted before the court that all counsel had agreed that telephonic presence for parties specifically required to be physically present at the mediation pursuant to Rule 6(b), SCRADR was sufficient for the November 11, 2015 mediation. (R. p. 197). While Respondents claim mediation did not go forward on November 11, 2015, all parties, whether attending remotely or physically, attempted to settle the matter for over five (5) hours. (R. p. 194).

In sum, the lower court committed errors of law in its February 11, 2016 Order by holding that the Association violated an order of the court by not having a representative physically attend a second mediation in the matter on November 11, 2015 when its previous October 13, 2015 Order did not require such physical attendance, and the lower court failed to consider the agreement of counsel prior to such mediation that parties were permitted to attend on November 11, 2015 telephonically.

**2. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DISMISSING THE ASSOCIATION'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE BASED ON A FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE COURT'S OCTOBER 13, 2015 ORDER COMPELLING THE ANSWERS TO CERTAIN INTERROGATORIES AND PRODUCTION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS PURSUANT TO RESPONDENTS' DISCOVERY REQUESTS.**

In its February 11, 2016 Order, the lower court held that the Association's cause of action should be dismissed with prejudice because it had failed to comply with the court's October 13, 2015 Order compelling Answers to a limited number of Interrogatories propounded by Respondents and compelling the production of a limited number of documents requested by Respondents. However, our Supreme Court and this Court have made clear that dismissal of a claim with prejudice necessitates a showing of intentional misconduct or willful disobedience.

The Association concedes that, by the time its claim was dismissed, it had failed to fully comply with the lower court's October 13, 2015 Order regarding outstanding discovery. By its terms, the Order provided that the Association had until November 11, 2015. (R. p. 6). Mediation was scheduled for the same day, and counsel for the Association was hopeful the matter would settle. (R. p. 194). Respondents filed their Motion to Dismiss a mere seven (7) business days later.

It is undisputed that the trial court may dismiss a plaintiff's action for unreasonable neglect in proceeding with his or her cause. Don Shevey & Spires, Inc. v. Am. Motors Realty Corp., 279 S.C. 58, 60, 301 S.E.2d 757, 758 (1983). However, "[a] sanction of dismissal is too severe if there is no evidence of any intentional misconduct." Orlando v. Boyd, 320 S.C. 509, 511, 466 S.E.2d 353, 355 (1996) (citation omitted). "The sanction imposed should be reasonable, and the court should not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of a case." Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co., Inc., 327 S.C. 358, 543,

489 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 1997) (citation omitted). “Furthermore, whatever sanction is imposed should serve to protect the rights of discovery provided by the Rules of Civil Procedure. Id. (citation omitted).

In this case, the lower court’s February 11, 2016 Order fails to make any finding that the Association, in failing to respond to Respondents’ remaining Interrogatories and Requests for Production before its cause was dismissed, intentionally or willfully violated its October 13, 2015 Order. The court found that “Plaintiff has continually exhibited indifference to the rulings of this Court . . .,” but it fails to identify any instance in which the Association has intentionally or willfully disobeyed any of its other rulings or Orders. Indeed, there is no evidence in the record from which the court could conclude such intentional or willful action.

Even had the lower court made such a finding, this Court has held that dismissing a Plaintiff’s cause of action in the face of intentional and willful non-compliance remains an abuse of discretion when the sanction is not limited in scope to the alleged violation. Karppi, 327 S.C. at 543, 489 S.E.2d at 682. In Karppi, the plaintiff in the underlying suit served discovery on one of the organizational defendants on February 27, 1996. Id. at 540. The same date, plaintiff noticed the deposition of the same organizational defendant, requesting a specific representative to be produced. Id. at 541. The defendant’s counsel declined to make the specified representative available and proposed alternatives. Id. Plaintiff, unsatisfied with answers to discovery and the response to his deposition request, filed Motions to Compel as to discovery and deposition. Id. On June 29, the court gave defendant thirty (30) days to comply with plaintiff’s discovery requests. Id.

At a status conference on July 11, the court again ordered the defendant to comply with the court’s discovery order. Id. Plaintiff filed a second Motion to Compel on August 9, three

days before the case was to be tried. Id. The court found that defendant had specifically “intentionally and willfully violated” multiple orders of the court and its pleading was stricken. Id.

On appeal however, the lower court was reversed. Id. at 542. In its opinion, this Court determined that the “trial court failed to aim its sanction at the specific misconduct of [defendant], and in doing so, ran afoul of the requirement that the sanction imposed be reasonable – comprehensive, yet not overly broad.” Id. at 544 (citation omitted).

Additionally, this Court has looked favorably on the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals’ analysis of dismissals for failure to prosecute. In McComas v. Ross, the Court noted that “[t]he Fourth Circuit has said the trial court must consider four factors before dismissing a case for failure to prosecute: (1) the plaintiff’s degree of personal responsibility; (2) the amount of prejudice caused the defendant; (3) the presence of a drawn out history of deliberately proceeding in a dilatory fashion; and (4) the effectiveness of sanctions less drastic than dismissal.” 368 S.C. 59, 63, 626 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing Hillig v. Comm’r of Internal Revenue, 916 F.2d 171, 174 (4th Cir.1990)). Again reiterating that “[d]ismissal is generally permitted only in the face of a clear record of delay or contumacious conduct by the plaintiff,” the Court declined to affirm the dismissal of a plaintiff’s action when the plaintiff in the underlying matter when the plaintiff failed to appear for trial. McComas, 368 at 64, 626 S.E.2d. at 905 (citation omitted).

In this case, there is no evidence in the record that the lower court engaged in any fact-finding other than declaring that the Association failed to comply with its discovery order, which the Association admits. The court found no facts establishing that the Association had a history of deliberately delaying the matter, it made no finding that the Association’s failure to comply

was intentional or willful such that dismissal was warranted, it made no findings as to the Association's responsibility, and it failed to consider any alternative sanctions less drastic than dismissal that would be appropriate to correct the Association's delayed response to discovery. As a result, there is no indication that the court undertook any analysis as to whether the sanctions it was imposing were appropriate. Thus, there is no factual or legal basis to affirm dismissal in this case as the lower court has failed to make such findings and conclusions commensurate with those situations in which dismissal is appropriate.

Finally, the lower court concluded that because Respondents' filed a Motion to Compel the Deposition of Mr. Seefeld and a Motion to Compel Answers to Interrogatories that the Association, in some way, showed "utter indifference" to Respondents' rights. (R. p. 12). The court cites no standard under South Carolina law that the mere filing of a Motion to Compel demonstrates that the party against whom the Motion is filed has aggrieved the filing party in some way. Should such be the case, then the Association was equally aggrieved by Respondents, as it was forced to file its own Motion to Compel on May 29, 2015. In no instance has a court of this State held that a party against whom a Motion to Compel has been filed is therefore subject to sanction for automatically violating a discovery rule simply on the basis that such a Motion was filed.

**3. THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DISMISSING THE ASSOCIATION'S CLAIMS FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE WITH PREJUDICE IN CONTRAVENTION OF ESTABLISHED SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.**

In its February 11, 2016 Order, the lower court purported to dismiss the Association's claims with prejudice based upon an alleged failure to prosecute the underlying action. (R. p. 12). Under long-standing jurisprudence, a dismissal with prejudice is improper and should be reversed or the order modified. "An order of dismissal for failure to proceed with the suit is in the nature of a discontinuance of the action and is not an adjudication of the merits." Small v. Mungo, 254 S.C. at 443, 175 S.E.2d at 804 (1970). As such, the dismissal "does not put an end to the cause of action," and "an order of dismissal with prejudice . . . [is] not justified." Id. at 443-44. Assuming the lower court's dismissal was otherwise proper, the order should be modified so that its effect is to dismiss the Association's claims without prejudice.