THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-001194

Allenwood Owners Association, Inc., Stephen Seefeld,
John Kovich, Yvette Smith, Everett Butler, and
Amanda Johansson, Plaintiffs,

Of Whom Allenwood Owners Association, Inc., isAppellant,

v.

Mike Prince, Stacy Keller, Jeff Miller, Debra Reed,
Fran Stevens, Meredith Florencio, and Jacques Talbot.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

RECEIVED
JAN 17 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Krista M. McGuire, SC Bar #72021
kristamcguire@parkerpoe.com
A. Smith Podris, SC Bar #78051
smithpodris@parkerpoe.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant stands in a swamp of its own making. After more than eighteen months of repeatedly failing to comply with court orders, the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, and the South Carolina Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules, Appellant asks this Court to reverse the lower court's exercise of its inherent and discretionary power to dismiss Appellant's claims.

Appellant characterizes its representative's failure to attend mediation as both inconsequential and the sole basis for the lower court's dismissal, but it is neither. Appellant's utter indifference to the process and defiance of the lower court's order is serious, and the damage it caused to Respondents cannot be overstated. Of equal importance, however, is the fact that the lower court's order is based upon a multitude of failures to abide by both judicial orders and the applicable rules. In addition to multiple failures to physically appear for mediations, Appellant has failed to respond to written discovery, failed to produce records and refused to participate in the scheduling of a 30(b)(6) deposition or the individual deposition of Seefeld.

The combination of Appellant's refusal to physically attend mediation as required by both the lower court's order and applicable rules and Appellant's failure to comply with the lower court's orders and applicable rules on discovery means that the lower court's ruling was based neither on an error of law nor a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. The Appellant cannot meet its high burden of showing that the lower court abused its discretion, and the lower court's dismissal should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE COURT'S ORDERS, THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT-ANNEXED ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION RULES, AND THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURES JUSTIFIED DISMISSAL OF ITS CLAIMS.

It is well established in South Carolina that a trial court's power to dismiss claims for failure to prosecute is inherent. "[T]rial judges possess the inherent power to dismiss actions *sua sponte* for a party's failure to prosecute the relevant claims." *Crestwood Golf Club, Inc. v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 211, 493 S.E.2d 826, 832 (1997). This "inherent power" is derived not from a statute or rule, but from "the control necessarily vested in courts to manage their own affairs so as to achieve the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases." *Collins v. Sigmon*, 299 S.C. 464, 468, 385 S.E.2d 835, 837 (1989). Rule 41(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides "For failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action against him."

Respondents did so move for dismissal of Appellant's claims against them after being continually frustrated in their efforts to mount a complete defense to Appellant's action and after time and resources had been wasted not once, but twice, at mediations for which Appellant failed to appear. The lower court's dismissal of Appellant's action is not an abuse of discretion because, as outlined in the lower court's Order, Appellant repeatedly failed to comply with the lower court's orders, the South Carolina Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Rules, and the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

A. Appellant has failed to comply with the lower court's orders regarding discovery and mediation.

Dismissal of an action is an appropriate response to violations of court orders. *Barnette v. Adams Bros. Logging, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 588, 586 S.E.2d 572 (2003). In *Barnette*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina affirmed the dismissal of an action for repeated violations of trial court orders. The *Barnette* plaintiff repeatedly failed to produce certain medical records and sign a consent form allowing a Social Security Administration official to testify regarding her matter in a deposition. *Id.* at 355 S.C. at 594. Notably, like the Appellant here, the *Barnette* plaintiff argued that the oral rulings of the trial judge were not binding. *Id.* The lower court dismissed plaintiff's causes of action. *Id.* at 594-95. The Supreme Court affirmed the lower court's dismissal of the action as appropriate where the litigant had repeatedly failed to comply with the lower court's orders. *Id.*

Here, like the *Barnette* plaintiff, Appellant argues that the lower court's oral ruling that Appellant was required to physically attend mediation was not binding on Appellant and, moreover, repeatedly failed to comply with the lower court's discovery rulings.

Appellant admits that it never complied and never intended to comply with the lower court's October 13, 2015 Order requiring it to respond to certain overdue interrogatories and produce certain overdue documents by November 11, 2015. (Br. 9.) Instead, Appellant affirmatively chose not to prepare responses, claiming now that the failure to do so was in hope that the case would settle at mediation. Because mediation was scheduled for November 11, 2015, the very same day that the responses were due, Appellant knew it would not have time to comply with the October 13, 2015 Order in the

event that the case did not settle. Appellant's affirmative choice means that it willfully and knowingly failed to produce the interrogatory responses and documents required by the lower court, and the flagrant disrespect for the lower court demonstrated by this alone is sufficient to justify the lower court's dismissal of the action.⁵

Of course, Appellant's failure to respond to discovery requests and produce documents was not the only way that Appellant violated the October 13, 2015 Order. Despite the lower court expressly ordering Seefeld's physical attendance at mediation as a representative for Appellant, Seefeld failed to appear for mediation a second time.

At the hearing on August 4, 2015, that resulted in the October 13, 2015 Order to mediate, Judge Mullen unequivocally ordered Seefeld to be physically present at mediation: "I can tell you, Mr. Seefeld needs to be here. He's the player, he needs to be here. He seems to be the one to have the greatest interest in it And, of course, I'm going to order that he be here." (Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss, Exh B, pp. 82-83; Supp. R. pp. 7-8.) The lower court recognized that Seefeld's physical presence was imperative after his failure to physically attend the first mediation contributed to a failed mediation. The lower court's October 13, 2016 Order required "the parties in this case to participate in a mediation as soon as practicable."

Appellant attempts to whitewash Seefeld's failure to physically attend the November 11, 2015 mediation by distinguishing between the lower court's explicit verbal instructions and the written October 13, 2015 Order subsequently entered by the lower court, but Appellant's arguments are unavailing.

⁵ Of note, there is no evidence in the record that Appellant ever attempted to comply with the lower court's Order on discovery; even after Respondents adjourned the second mediation for Seefeld's failure to attend and even after Respondents filed their Motion to Dismiss.

First, Appellant apparently argues that statements by the lower court judge can be ignored and disregarded simply because they are not included verbatim in a written order. In doing so, Appellant suggests that parties should be permitted to place their hands over their ears and become willfully deaf to express instructions given by the presiding judge. Such suggestion is absurd, particularly whereas here, the express instruction given by Judge Mullen from the bench requiring Appellant's representative, Seefeld, to be physically present for mediation is consistent with court rules with which Appellant was already required to comply. See South Carolina Court Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Rules, Rule 6(b)(2).

Importantly, there is no claim or argument that the plain language of the written October 13, 2015 Order was intended to or had the effect of circumventing the South Carolina Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Rules, which also required Seefeld's physical attendance.⁶

Appellant's argument that Judge Mullen's specific order that Seefeld be physically present at mediation disappeared when it was not expressly restated in the subsequently entered written order leads to ludicrous results, particularly when one considers other requirements contained in the ADR rules that were not contained in Judge Mullen's written October 13, 2015 Order. For example, Rule 6(d), SCADR requires the parties and their representatives to cooperate with the mediator, but Judge Mullen did not specifically reference Rule 6(d) in her October 13, 2015 Order. Under Appellant's reasoning, Appellant would not have any duty to cooperate because an order requiring

⁶ The South Carolina Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules apply to court-ordered mediations. Rule 1(a), SCADR.

mediation only requires the parties to cooperate at mediation if such requirement is expressly stated in the order.

Taken to its extreme, Appellant's argument that a party can disregard verbal statements consistent with applicable rules unless expressly included in an order would necessarily mean that any time a judge orders mediation in a case, the written order must include, at a minimum (1) a statement that all parties must be in physical attendance (Rule 6(b)(2), SCADR; (2) a statement that all parties and their counsel are required to cooperate with the mediator (Rule 6(d), SCADR; and (3) a statement that a communications made during the court ordered mediation are to remain confidential (Rule 6(e), SCADR). Moreover, there appears no compelling reason why the very same logic would not apply to orders entered regarding the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Shall courts be required to incorporate by reference all procedural rules regarding discovery, the provision of notice for hearing, and applicable deadlines for motions for reconsideration in each order they enter? Such a result would defy logic; create redundancy, and waste valuable judicial resources. For these reasons, adoption of Appellant's position would not only place a stamp of approval on Appellant's decision to disregard a specific order from Judge Mullen, but also lead to an outrageous result requiring judges to expressly include each specific applicable rule in every order touching on or concerning those rules.

Appellant references a handful of cases in an effort to cloak the absurdity of its argument, but those cases are unavailing here. First, Appellant cites to *Ford v. State Ethics Com'n*, 344 S.C. 642, 545 S.E.2d 821 (2001), a case confirming that the trial court retains the discretion to change its mind at any time between a bench ruling and

entry of a final written order. Here, there is no claim or evidence that the lower court “changed its mind” about Seefeld’s physical attendance between its statements at the hearing and its subsequent written order, nor can there be when the lower court itself evinces a belief that the order to mediate the case was an order for Appellant’s representative, Seefeld, to physically attend mediation.⁷

Similarly inapposite is Appellant’s reference to *Woodson v. DLI Properties, LLC*, 406 S.C. 517, 753 S.E.2d 428 (2014). Although Appellant’s discussion of the case might suggest otherwise, *Woodson* does not address the question of whether specific rulings issued from the bench are incorporated into more general subsequently entered written orders. Instead, *Woodson* rejects the position that a hearing transcript always must be included in a record on appeal along with the court’s written order. The *Woodson* Court of Appeals determined that the *Woodson* appellants had not provided a sufficient record for review of a lower court’s grant of summary judgment when the *Woodson* appellants failed to provide the Court of Appeals with a copy of the hearing transcript. The lower court’s grant of summary judgment was affirmed on that basis alone. The Supreme Court also affirmed the lower court’s grant of summary judgment but modified the Court of Appeals’ reasoning. The Supreme Court simply held that the written order without the hearing transcript was sufficient for appellate review where the basis of the lower court’s decision could otherwise be found in the record on appeal. The *Woodson* Court never implied that a specific bench ruling could be ignored if it was not expressly and specifically included into a more general subsequently entered written order.

Appellant has cited no law suggesting that either outright disobedience or willful ignorance of a judge’s order is ever acceptable. Because Appellant willfully violated the

⁷ Oct. 13, 2015 Order, p. 6; R. p. 6.

October 13, 2015 Order by refusing to produce documents and interrogatory responses by the court-ordered deadline of November 11, 2015, and by refusing to physically appear to mediate the case as ordered, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing Appellant's action.

B. Appellant twice failed to comply with the South Carolina Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules requiring it to physically appear for mediation.

Although Appellant's violation of the October 13, 2015 Order is a sufficient basis for the lower court to exercise its discretion and dismiss Appellants' action, Appellants also flouted the South Carolina Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules by twice failing to physically appear for mediation without notice to or consent from the other parties.

Rule 6, SCADR, requires that all parties "physically attend a mediation settlement conference unless otherwise agreed to by the mediator and all parties" As an initial matter, Appellant makes no mention of their first failure to comply with Rule 6, SCADR, which is included in the Dismissal Order. Beyond that, Appellant misstates the facts twice: First, Appellants suggest that Respondents agreed to their telephonic participation. Second, Appellant states that the matter was actually mediated on November 11, 2015. Both statements are false and there is no evidence of their truth.

First, Appellant never suggested to the trial court that Appellant believed it had Respondents' consent to appear by telephone, and therefore this theory is unpreserved for appellate review. Claims or defenses not raised before the lower court may not be considered on appeal. *McNeely v. South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 259 S.C. 39, 190 S.E.2d 499 (1972). Importantly, the appellate argument cannot differ from the grounds presented below. *State v. McCray*, 332 S.C. 356, 506 S.E.2d 301 (1998);

Hanahan v. Simpson, 326 S.C. 140, 485 S.E.2d 903 (1997). Never once did Appellant state or even suggest to the trial court that Appellant believed it had permission to appear by telephone rather than in person. Never once was any evidence presented to the trial court that would have supported either the claim that Appellant had such a belief or that any such belief was justified.

The reason no such evidence was presented below or here on appeal is both simple and telling: There is none. Respondents never agreed to anything other than Seefeld's physical presence at mediation. Perhaps to draw attention away from their utter lack of evidence of any such consent, Appellant attempts to equate, without basis, the parties' agreement documented in writing for telephonic participation by insurance adjusters to consent for telephonic participation by Seefeld. These arguments, however, are completely devoid of merit.

Respondents expressly provided consent for the adjusters to attend mediation by phone, but Respondents never provided consent for Seefeld to attend by phone. The difference between the two is simple, inasmuch as this case is primarily about community leadership, not damages. The adjusters play no role in the negotiation of community leadership, but Seefeld, as the representative of the underlying Plaintiff, the lower court noted, is "the player" and "the one to have the greatest interest" in the outcome of this case. Mediation without Seefeld being physically present at both the proverbial and literal table is not fruitful, and Respondents never consented to his attendance by telephone.

Because Respondents never consented to telephonic participation by Seefeld, Seefeld twice violated Rule 6, SCADR, by failing to physically appear for mediation on

both February 27, 2015 and November 11, 2015. Rule 10(b), SCADR, provides that a court may sanction any person or entity subject to the SCADR for violation of “any provision of the ADR Rules without good cause.” The sanctions available to the court include dismissal of the action. Rule 10(b), SCADR; Rule 37(b)(2)(C), SCRCP. Here, there was no evidence of good cause submitted to the lower court. The lower court did not abuse its discretion when it dismissed Appellants’ action for failure twice to physically attend mediation without good cause as required under the South Carolina Court-Annexed Alternative Dispute Resolution Rules.

Appellant also states that this case was actually mediated on November 11, 2015, but that statement is in error. There is no evidence that the parties moved forward with mediation on November 11, 2015, when Seefeld again failed to physically appear for mediation. Appellant cannot cite to any affidavit, from Seefeld or anyone else, or any document that supports its position that the parties actually mediated the case on November 11, 2015, nor is there any evidence to support Appellant’s statement that Respondents never objected to Seefeld’s appearance by phone is false. Further, there is no ADR report supporting Appellant’s position that the case was mediated on that date.

In fact, Respondents, frustrated by a second bait-and-switch, refused to consent to Seefeld’s participation by telephone. (Jan. 15, 2016 Hr’g Tr. pp. 7:25-8:7; R. pp. 190-91.) Appellant’s statement that Respondents consented to or never objected to Seefeld’s appearance by phone is false and unsupported by any evidence. When Respondents realized that Seefeld would again fail to appear, Respondents immediately left and drove back to Hilton Head from Beaufort. (*Id.*) Mediation was thus adjourned before it ever began. Counsel for Respondents was asked by the mediator to stay and engage in an

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